FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/16/2020 3:28 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>98428</u>-0 Court of Appeals No. 52215-2-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MILLENNIUM BULK TERMINALS-LONGVIEW, LLC, and COWLITZ COUNTY

Respondents,

and

BNSF RAILWAY COMPANY

Respondent-Intervenor,

and

STATE OF WASHINGTON SHORELINES HEARINGS BOARD, COWLITZ COUNTY HEARING EXAMINER,

Respondents Below,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY, and WASHINGTON ENVIRONMENTAL COUNCIL, CLIMATE SOLUTIONS, FRIENDS OF THE COLUMBIA GORGE, SIERRA CLUB, and COLUMBIA RIVERKEEPER,

Petitioners.

RESPONDENT MILLENNIUM BULK TERMINALS-LONGVIEW, LLC'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Millennium Bulk Terminals-Longview, LLC ("MBT-Longview"), Respondent below, seeks review as outlined below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

MBT-Longview seeks review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision in *Millennium Bulk Terminals-Longview, LLC v. State of Washington, Department of Ecology*, No. 52215-2-II, 2020 WL 1651475 (March 17, 2020), filed by the Court of Appeals on March 17, 2020. A copy of the decision is included in Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Can summary judgment be granted against a non-moving party when it genuinely disputes material factual conclusions drawn from evidence in the record?
- 2. Whether a decision maker may deny a Shoreline Substantial Development Permit and Conditional Use Permit for the first stage of a development project based on the potential environmental impacts of the second stage of the project, where the second stage was not part of the permit application and, if constructed, would require separate permits and mitigation measures.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. MBT-Longview's Proposed Project.

MBT-Longview seeks to construct and operate a coal export terminal at the site of the former Reynolds aluminum smelter located adjacent to the Columbia River in Longview, Washington (the "Project"). AR 1687. The Project will receive trains and unload, stockpile, and load coal by conveyor onto ships for export. AR 1727.

MBT-Longview designed the Project to be constructed in two, independent stages. *Id.* In Stage 1, MBT-Longview would construct improvements to support a coal export terminal with a throughput capacity of 25 million metric tons per year ("MMTPY") of coal. *Id.* The Stage 1 improvements include two docks (Dock 2 and Dock 3), one shiploader and related conveyors on Dock 2, berthing facilities on Dock 3, a stockpile area including two stockpile pads, railcar unloading facilities, one operating rail track, up to eight rail storage tracks for train parking, and associated facilities and infrastructure. *Id.* Stage 1 is operational on its own.

In Stage 2—which represents the Project at full build-out—MBT-Longview would construct a shiploader on Dock 3 and two additional stockpile pads with the associated coal-handling equipment. AR 1728. The construction of these Stage 2 improvements would increase the throughput capacity of the Project to 44 MMTPY of coal. *Id.* In addition to the physical improvements made in Stage 2, the main operational difference between Stage 1 and Stage 2 is an increase in the number of trains and vessels serving the Project. AR 717; AR 714. In Stage 2, the number of trains serving the terminal would increase

from five trains per day to eight trains per day and increase the number of vessels from 40 vessels per month to 70 vessels per month. *Id*.

B. Environmental Review of the Project.

MBT-Longview submitted the entire Project for environmental review under the State Environmental Policy Act ("SEPA"). AR 511. Acting as co-lead agencies, Cowlitz County (the "County") and the Department of Ecology ("Ecology") jointly evaluated the potential environmental impacts of the Project at full build-out (Stages 1 and 2 combined) and issued a single final environmental impact statement ("EIS") for the Project. AR 488.

The EIS acknowledged that the Project would be developed in two stages, but it did not separately evaluate the potential impacts of the smaller, Stage 1 facility. AR 511; AR 515–16. The EIS concluded that the 44 MMTPY facility could have significant adverse impacts on nine environmental resource areas, but all such impacts could be avoided or reduced through mitigation measures identified in the EIS. AR 518; AR 988–1002.

C. County Review of MBT-Longview's Stage 1 Permits.

In February 2012, MBT-Longview filed an application with the County for permits to construct Stage 1 of the Project, including a Shoreline Substantial Development Permit for construction of Stage 1 improvements and a Shoreline Conditional Use Permit for dredging associated with the new docks (the "Shoreline Permits"). AR 608. MBT-Longview's application for the Shoreline Permits was expressly limited to the construction of improvements necessary for a 25 MMTPY facility. AR 710; AR 472.

In 2017, the County recommended approval of MBT-Longview's application for Stage 1 permits with 36 conditions to mitigate for impacts related to Stage 1. AR 707–08. The County staff report acknowledged that MBT-Longview would need to submit a second Shoreline Substantial Development Permit for expansion of the facility under Stage 2. AR 710. The County's recommendation and MBT-Longview's application were then forwarded to a Hearing Examiner for review, as required by the Cowlitz County Code. AR 2066. Beginning on November 2, 2017, the Hearing Examiner held a three-day public hearing on MBT-Longview's application for Stage 1. AR 17; AR 710; AR 1929; AR 1934–35.

During the hearing, MBT-Longview and the County explained that MBT-Longview was only seeking shoreline permits for Stage 1 of the Project. AR 1929; AR 1934–35. Because the Project EIS did not separately analyze the impacts and mitigation for Stage 1, MBT-Longview presented evidence about the impacts of Stage 1. That evidence demonstrated that the impacts of the smaller facility built in Stage 1 would be less than the impacts of full build-out of the Project at Stage 2 as described in the EIS. *See* AR 1729. MBT-Longview and other participants also presented evidence of the Stage 1 impacts on, and reasonable mitigation for, the nine resource areas identified in the EIS. *See* discussion *infra*.

On November 14, 2017, the Hearing Examiner issued a written decision denying MBT-Longview's application for the Shoreline Permits. AR 8–74. The Hearing Examiner's decision identified nine unavoidable, significant adverse environmental impacts from the EIS. AR 21–38. The

Hearing Examiner also found that the net greenhouse gas emissions associated with the Project were an additional unavoidable, significant adverse environmental impact. AR 38–40. The Hearing Examiner determined that, because the adequacy of the EIS had not been appealed, more specific evidence presented at the hearing about Stage 1 was "largely irrelevant to the issue of whether the ten unavoidable, significant adverse impacts identified in the FEIS can be reasonably mitigated." AR 56.

The Hearing Examiner denied the permits in part using substantive authority under SEPA, concluding that MBT-Longview had "failed to reasonably mitigate the ten, unavoidable, significant adverse impacts identified in the EIS." AR 9–10. The Hearing Examiner did not consider the impacts and mitigation related to the application for Stage 1 permits before him. Instead, the Hearing Examiner denied permits for Stage 1 based entirely on impacts and mitigation for Stage 2, which was not before him.

D. Procedural Background.

In December 2017, MBT-Longview and the County filed petitions with the Shorelines Hearings Board ("Board") seeking review of the Hearing Examiner's decision. AR 1–6. The Board granted intervention to Washington Environmental Council, Climate Solutions, Friends of the Columbia Gorge, Sierra Club, Columbia Riverkeeper (collectively, "WEC"), Ecology, and BNSF Railway Company, and consolidated the two petitions. AR 423–32.

On April 20, 2018, the Board issued an order denying MBT-Longview's motion for partial summary judgment on purely legal issues and granting Ecology's and WEC's motion for summary judgment on several legal

and factual issues, and it affirmed the Hearing Examiner's denial of the Shoreline Permits. AR 2058–94 at 88. The Board held that the Hearing Examiner did not err in considering the impacts of a 44 MMTPY facility in evaluating the permits for a 25 MMTPY facility, AR 2079, that the Hearing Examiner complied with all of the requirements to deny the permits under SEPA, and that no material issues of fact precluded entry of summary judgment. AR 2080–86.

MBT-Longview and the County appealed the Board's order to the Cowlitz County Superior Court. CP 1–58, 62–108. After the cases were consolidated in the trial court, the Court of Appeals accepted direct review. CP 220–23.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the Board's decision denying the Shoreline Permits. Slip Op. at 22. The Court acknowledged that MBT-Longview presented evidence that Stage 1 would not result in the adverse impacts identified in the EIS and the impacts could be mitigated. Slip Op. at 15. The Court concluded that Ecology did not dispute that evidence, but the parties "simply dispute the conclusions that can be drawn from such undisputed evidence." *Id.* The Court held that, as a result, the Board did not err in concluding that no genuine issues of material fact exist with regard to the impacts and mitigation of Stage 1 improvements. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals also rejected MBT-Longview's argument that it was improper for the Hearing Examiner to deny Stage 1 permits based on potential impacts from Stages 1 and 2 combined. The Court found that the two stages of the Project are "interrelated and interdependent," and that restricting

the Hearing Examiner's review to Stage 1 "would effectively allow Millennium to nullify SEPA substantive authority as applied to its project through the [Shoreline Management Act]" and would "permit a collateral attack on the EIS." Slip Op. at 16. The Court further determined that completion of Stage 1 would have a coercive effect on any subsequent permitting for Stage 2 because "Stage 1 involves the construction of a large coal export terminal, and Stage 2 involves far less construction but allows the terminal to vastly increase the amount of coal it processes." Slip Op. at 17.

The Court of Appeals further held that the Hearing Examiner properly exercised his authority under SEPA to deny the permits. Slip Op. at 19. The Court held that the requirements for exercising SEPA substantive authority under RCW 43.21C.060 were met because the Hearing Examiner relied on impacts identified in an EIS and "discussed why the proposed mitigation measures were insufficient to mitigate the impacts." Slip Op. at 20.

V. ARGUMENT IN FAVOR OF REVIEW

The Court should grant review under RAP 13.4 because the Court of Appeals' ruling distorts several legal standards that apply to state permitting processes and will cause confusion for permit applicants and decision makers alike. To begin with, the Court of Appeals affirmed entry of summary judgment despite finding that the parties disputed the factual conclusions that can be drawn from the evidence in the record. That ruling conflicts with black letter standards for summary judgment under CR 56 established by this Court. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1). The Court of Appeals' misuse of summary judgment has the potential to mislead litigants, lower

courts and other tribunals, and therefore involves an issue of substantial public importance. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(4).

This case also involves an issue of substantial public importance to public and private developers in Washington who apply for land use permits, as well as to the decision makers who must review and decide those permit applications. *See id*. The Court of Appeals held that a decision maker can deny a permit for one phase of a phased development project on the basis of potential impacts of another, future phase not under review. That novel holding redefined the concept of "piecemealing" a development project under the Shoreline Management Act in a way that could be used to prevent any phased development project in Washington's shorelines.

A. The Court of Appeals Misapplied the Summary Judgment Standard.

In affirming the entry of summary judgment in face of acknowledged disputes about conclusions that can be drawn from evidence in the record, the Court of Appeals misapplied the summary judgment standard.

"The fundamental premise of summary judgment is that it is appropriate only when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and ... the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Ehrhart v. King Cty.*, ___ Wn.2d ___, __ P.3d ___, 2020 WL 1649891, at *9 (Wash. Apr. 2, 2020) (internal quotation marks omitted). All facts and reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Id.* A genuine issue of material fact exists "if, after weighing the

evidence, reasonable minds could reach <u>different factual conclusions</u> about an issue that is material to the disputed claim." *Jones v. Wash. Dep't of Health*, 170 Wn.2d 338, 352, 242 P.3d 825 (2010) (emphasis added).

The question before the Court of Appeals was whether the Board properly dismissed MBT-Longview's appeal by granting Ecology's motion for summary judgment. Slip Op. at 2. MBT-Longview had appealed, among other issues, the Hearing Examiner's use of substantive authority under SEPA to deny the Shoreline Permits. *Id.* at 3. SEPA sets a high bar to deny a permit; the decision maker "must find that: (1) The proposal would result in significant adverse impacts identified in a final or supplemental environmental impact statement prepared under this chapter; and (2) reasonable mitigation measures are insufficient to mitigate the identified impact." RCW 43.21C.060; *see Cougar Mountain Assocs. v. King Cty.*, 111 Wn.2d 742, 755, 765 P.2d 264 (1988). Thus, summary judgment could be entered for Ecology only if there was no genuine dispute that environmental impacts "would result" from Stage 1 and that reasonable mitigation measures "are insufficient to mitigate" those impacts. RCW 43.21C.060.

The Court of Appeals expressly recognized that MBT-Longview presented evidence that "impacts from Stage 1 would not result in the adverse impacts identified in the EIS" and evidence "regarding whether its proposed measures would mitigate the identified impacts" of Stage 1. Slip Op. at 15. The Court of Appeals further acknowledged that the parties disputed "the conclusions that can be drawn" from that evidence. *Id.* Thus, after weighing the evidence and arguments before it, the Court of Appeals

concluded that the parties reached <u>different factual conclusions</u> about issues that are material to the disputed claims. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals inexplicably affirmed entry of summary judgment against MBT-Longview.

By acknowledging disputes about the factual conclusions that could be drawn from the evidence, the Court of Appeals could not conclude as a matter of law, viewing that evidence in the light most favorable to MBT-Longview, that unavoidable impacts *would* result from Stage 1 and potential mitigation measures *are* inadequate. Instead, because the Court of Appeals concluded that the parties disputed "the conclusions that can be drawn" from the evidence, Slip Op. at 15, the Court of Appeals should have denied summary judgment and ordered a de novo hearing before the Board. *See* WAC 461-08-500(1).

Summary judgment is a tool for resolving cases that do not require fact-finding. The Court of Appeals' ruling conflicts with the standards for summary judgment and opens the door for improper and premature resolution of cases that require a trial or hearing to resolve questions of fact. This Court should accept review of this case and clarify that, under these circumstances, summary judgment is not appropriate.

B. The Court of Appeals Redefined the Concept of "Piecemealing" in a Manner that Could Prevent Phased Development Projects in Washington.

The Court should also accept review to clarify the parameters of the prohibition against "piecemeal" development under the Shoreline Management Act ("SMA"). The Court of Appeals held that it was permissible for the Hearing Examiner to deny the Shoreline Permits for

Stage 1 based on the potential environmental impacts of Stage 2. The Court of Appeals concluded that considering an application for Stage 1 alone would result in improper "piecemealing" of the Project under the SMA. The Court of Appeals' decision is an unprecedented expansion of the rule against "piecemeal" shoreline development that could prevent public and private development projects from being undertaken in phases.

Until now, the SMA's prohibition against piecemeal development under RCW 90.58.020¹ has never required developers of multi-phase projects to obtain shoreline permits for all phases of the project at once. *See Walker v. Point Ruston LLC*, SHB Nos. 09-013, 09-016, 2010 WL 235153, at *13 (Jan. 19, 2010) ("[T]he Board has held in past decisions that phasing of Projects under more than one shoreline permit is permissible."); *Iddings v. Griffith*, SHB No. 08-031, 2009 WL 1817902, at *12 (June 22, 2009) ("Simply applying for one permit rather than all the permits ultimately required for a proposed development is not necessarily a piecemealing violation [under the SMA]."); *Scheyer v. Dep't of Ecology*, SHB No. 98-66, 1999 WL 418004, at *5 (June 16, 1999) ("It is not necessary that one apply for all shoreline permits that may ultimately be required for a proposed development.").

_

¹ RCW 90.58.020 provides, in relevant part, that because "the shorelines of the state are among the most valuable and fragile of its natural resources and that there is great concern throughout the state relating to their utilization, protection, restoration, and preservation," there is "a clear and urgent demand for a planned, rational, and concerted effort . . . to prevent the inherent harm in an uncoordinated and piecemeal development of the state's shorelines."

Case law holds that improper "piecemealing" under the SMA occurs only in two limited circumstances not present here. The first is where a project is segmented to avoid shoreline review, such as by excluding a portion of the project occurring on the uplands from the portion occurring on the shoreline. See Merkel v. Port of Brownsville, 8 Wn. App. 844, 851– 52, 509 P.2d 390 (1973) (when developing a marina, it was improper for the port to exclude the associated clearing of trees on the uplands from SMA review); cf. Scheyer, 1999 WL 418004, at *5 (rejecting argument that approval of a shoreline variance for construction of a residence was improper piecemeal development under the SMA upon finding that "any impacts associated with a residence will be addressed through the review of a building permit"); King v. Port of Vancouver, SHB No. 97-17, 1997 WL 804291 (Nov. 20, 1997) (affirming the phased development and permitting of a project upon finding that any further development on the port property would be subjected to appropriate review and consideration to protect the environment).

The second circumstance is where permitting one phase would coerce the issuance of permits for a subsequent phase because the phases are interdependent. *Compare Bhatia v. Dep't of Ecology*, SHB No. 95-34, 1996 WL 538822, at *14 (Jan. 9, 1996) (permitting the construction of a house on an eroding shoreline would likely coerce future permitting for a bulkhead necessary to save the house from falling into the water), *with Jarvis v. Kitsap Cty.*, SHB No. 08-001, 2008 WL 11462915, at *6 (Apr. 8, 2008) (permitting construction of a dock separately from the construction

of mooring buoy was not improper piecemealing because the dock "can function independent of any future" buoy installation or upland improvements).

In *Bhatia*, the Board held that Mr. Bhatia had inappropriately piecemealed a residential development project when he failed to apply for approvals of the residence and its "attendant parts" at the same time. 1996 WL 538822, at *16. The Board found that the "various pieces of Mr. Bhatia's proposal," including a home, septic system, road, retaining wall, and a bulkhead, "are all part of an integrated, larger project, the parts of which depend on each other for their justification or implementation." *Id.* at *13. As such, the house along with the "integrated and non-severable parts of the total development" should have been the subject of a single permit application. *Id.* at *16.

In contrast, in *Jarvis*, the Board rejected the argument that a county's approval of a permit for construction of a pier was improperly piecemealed because it did not include consideration of three mooring buoys that were part of the overall project plan. 2008 WL 11462915, at *3. The Board explained that the project proponent "may later apply for a separate permit for the buoys, but there is no application pending at the present time." *Id.* The Board held that there was no improper piecemealing under the SMA, finding that "[e]nvironmental review of any later buoy proposal has not been foreclosed, or in any way predetermined, by the County's review of the community dock," and that the "community dock can function independent of any future mooring buoy installation." *Id.* at *6. The Board

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