FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/15/2020 3:18 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98428-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MILLENNIUM BULK TERMINALS-LONGVIEW, LLC, and
COWLITZ COUNTY,

Petitioner,

and

BNSF RAILWAY COMPANY,

Respondent-Intervenor Below,

and

STATE OF WASHINGTON, SHORELINES HEARINGS BOARD,
COWLITZ COUNTY HEARINGS EXAMINER,

Respondents Below,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY, and
WASHINGTON ENVIRONMENTAL COUNCIL, et al.,

Respondents.

**STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY'S
AND WASHINGTON ENVIRONMENTAL COUNCIL, ET AL.'S
ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

ROBERT W. FERGUSON
Attorney General

EARTHJUSTICE

I. INTRODUCTION

Millennium Bulk Terminals-Longview seeks this Court's review of an unpublished decision by the Court of Appeals affirming the denial of shoreline permits for Millennium's massive coal export project. The Court of Appeals held that the Shorelines Hearings Board did not err when it considered the significant adverse impacts of the project at full buildout, as analyzed in unchallenged environmental review documents, rather than piecemealing the project and limiting its review.

Millennium has proposed to build a single, integrated coal export terminal, which it has broken into two interrelated construction stages. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that consideration of the impacts of the project at full buildout was necessary to give effect to the mandates and purposes of the State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA) and the Shoreline Management Act (SMA), where the full scope of the project and its impacts had been fully analyzed in an unchallenged environmental impact statement (EIS). The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with other appellate decisions as well as cases decided by the Shorelines Hearings Board. Moreover, the Court did not err in applying the summary judgment standard as there are no material facts in dispute. The EIS on which the permit denial was based was not challenged or appealed.

Because Millennium does not demonstrate that the criteria for review by this Court are met, review should be denied.

II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in determining that summary judgment was proper, where the Court agreed with the Hearings Examiner and the Board that evidence addressing only Stage 1 impacts was inadequate because SEPA and the SMA mandate consideration of the full environmental impacts of the total project, and where there are no material facts in dispute as to the total impacts?

2. Did the Court of Appeals err in determining that the Hearings Examiner and the Shorelines Hearings Board properly considered the adverse impacts of the project at full buildout, rather than piecemealing the project and limiting their review to Stage 1?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual Background

Millennium seeks to construct the largest coal export facility in North America on the banks of the Columbia River in Longview, Washington. Coal would be brought to the site by train from mines in the Powder River basin in Wyoming and Montana, and the Uinta Basin in Utah and Colorado, stockpiled on site, and then loaded onto ships for transport to Asia, where the coal would be burned to generate electricity.

AR 0511. The vessel traffic from the facility would account for approximately one quarter of all vessel traffic on the Columbia River, with 1,680 vessel transits annually. AR 0677, 2063–64. At full buildout, eight trains, each a mile and a half long, would enter and depart from the site each day, resulting in 16 train trips per day in Cowlitz County and across Washington State. AR 2063–64. The project would operate 24 hours a day, seven days a week. *Id.*

As identified in Millennium’s permit application, Millennium proposes to construct the facility in two stages.¹ AR 0472, 0608. According to the application, Stage 1 would involve construction of two docks, one ship loader and related conveyors, berthing facilities, a stockpile area including two stockpile pads, rail car unloading facilities, one operating rail track and eight rail storage tracks, as well as dredging of approximately 350,000 cubic yards of sediment necessary to accommodate deep draft vessels. AR 0472–77, 0530. Stage 1 includes construction of most of the infrastructure necessary to export 44 million

¹ This is not the first time that Millennium has attempted to piecemeal its project to hide its full environmental and public health impacts. In 2010, Millennium obtained a shoreline permit under the SMA to build a facility capable of exporting 5 million metric tons of coal each year. AR 0551–53. Later litigation revealed that Millennium planned to build a much larger facility, and that it intended to seek additional permits to expand the facility after the initial project was approved. *Id.* AR 0603–06. When Millennium’s plans became public, Millennium withdrew its original application and submitted a revised shoreline permit application for a facility that, at full buildout, would be capable of handling 44 million metric tons of coal each year. AR 0553, 2063–64.

metric tons of coal. AR 0472–77. The facility would be operable upon completion of Stage 1, at which time the facility would have the capacity to ship up to 25 million metric tons of coal per year, and would utilize up to five trains and forty vessels. *Id.*, AR 0533, 0536.

The application also describes the construction of Stage 2. AR 0472–77. Construction of Stage 2 would start immediately after Stage 1. Stage 2 involves the construction of an additional ship loader, two additional stockpile pads, and additional conveyors. Relative to the construction occurring during Stage 1, these are minor physical additions to the overall project. Operations at Stage 2 would add three additional trains and thirty additional vessels. AR 0533, 0536.

Acting as a co-lead under SEPA with the Department of Ecology, and under an agreement with Millennium, Cowlitz County hired a third party consultant to prepare an EIS. AR 1479, 1598. The EIS analyzed the project’s impacts at full buildout (i.e., both Stage 1 and Stage 2), and concluded that the project will cause unavoidable, significant adverse impacts in nine resource areas. The EIS found that the project will cause an increased cancer risk to local residents, a high level of noise impacts to residential areas, an increase in rail and vessel accidents, and local traffic congestion with two hour delays in a 24-hour period. AR 1346, 1306–13, 1184, 1280, 1216. The project would block access to at least 20 federally

established tribal fishing sites on the Columbia River, impact tribal fish resources, and contribute to capacity exceedances on Washington's rail lines. AR 1106–11, 1176. The EIS also found that the project would have disproportionate adverse impacts on the minority and low-income populations in the neighborhoods near the project site. AR 1068–69. These conclusions in the EIS were made after a thorough analysis of the potential mitigation that might eliminate or minimize these impacts. AR 0518. The EIS was not challenged.

B. Procedural Background

The Cowlitz County Hearings Examiner held a three day open record public hearing on Millennium's shoreline permit application during which the Hearings Examiner allowed Millennium and the County the opportunity to present expert and fact witness testimony and exhibits. Respondents Washington Environmental Council, Climate Solutions, Friends of the Columbia Gorge, Sierra Club, and Columbia Riverkeeper (collectively WEC) intervened and participated in the County hearing. During the hearing, Millennium repeatedly represented that it was not challenging the EIS, although most of its evidence attempted to contradict the EIS findings and was not specific to Stage 1. AR 0056, 2077. After consideration of the evidence presented, the Hearings Examiner found that Millennium failed to propose reasonable mitigation measures that would

sufficiently address the impacts identified in the EIS. AR 0021–40, 0047–59. In addition to the nine areas of significant adverse unavoidable impacts identified in the EIS, the Hearings Examiner also found that greenhouse gas emissions from the project would create a tenth significant adverse unavoidable impact that could not reasonably be mitigated. AR 0038–40. The Hearings Examiner’s finding was based on Millennium’s testimony that it would mitigate only half of 1 percent of the greenhouse gas emissions calculated in the EIS. *Id.* The Hearings Examiner made specific findings as to the inadequacy of the proposed mitigation, and concluded that the impacts were inconsistent with “virtually every one” of Cowlitz County’s adopted SEPA policies. AR 0057–59. The Hearings Examiner exercised his substantive authority under SEPA, and denied the shoreline permits.² *See* RCW 43.21C.060.³

² The Hearings Examiner also concluded that the project was inconsistent with the Shoreline Management Act. AR 0040–42.

³ RCW 43.21C.060 states “[t]he policies and goals set forth in this chapter are supplementary to those set forth in existing authorizations of all branches of government of this state, including state agencies *Any governmental action may be conditioned or denied pursuant to this chapter*” (Emphasis added.) The authority to condition or deny permits pursuant to SEPA has been repeatedly confirmed by courts over many decades in a variety of settings. *E.g.*, *Polygon Corp. v. City of Seattle*, 90 Wn.2d 59, 578 P.2d 1309 (1978); *Dep’t of Natural Res. v. Thurston Cty.*, 92 Wn.2d 656, 601 P.2d 494 (1979); *Brinnon Grp. v. Jefferson Cty.*, 159 Wn. App. 446, 245 P.3d 789 (2011); *Adams v. Thurston Cty.*, 70 Wn. App. 471, 855 P.2d 284 (1993); *Victoria Tower P’ship v. City of Seattle*, 59 Wn. App. 592, 800 P.2d 380 (1990); *West Main Assoc. v. City of Bellevue*, 49 Wn. App. 513, 742 P.2d 1266 (1987). This is commonly referred to as “substantive SEPA” authority.

Millennium appealed the Hearings Examiner's denial of the shoreline permits to the Shorelines Hearings Board. Ecology, BNSF, Cowlitz County, and WEC intervened in the Board proceeding. Ecology and WEC filed motions for summary judgment on all legal issues, and Millennium moved for partial summary judgment. Millennium's main contention was that the Hearings Examiner should have limited his review to only those impacts that Millennium alleged were attributable to Stage 1 of the project, and that the Hearings Examiner's decision was erroneous because he had based his decision on the project's impacts at full buildout. AR 2074.

The Board rejected Millennium's argument that the Hearings Examiner was precluded from considering the impacts of the project at full buildout, and concluded that his exercise of substantive SEPA authority to deny the permits was not clearly erroneous. AR 2079–80. The Board also rejected Millennium's contention that there were facts in dispute regarding mitigation of the project's impacts. The Board stated that "the Hearing Examiner found that the conditions proposed in the Staff Report did not reasonably mitigate the identified impacts," and that "[t]he Hearing Examiner identified specific shortcomings he found in the proposed mitigation." AR 2086.

Millennium appealed the Board’s decision to the Cowlitz County Superior Court, and respondents Ecology and WEC sought and obtained direct review by the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals affirmed the Board’s decision upholding the denial of the shoreline permits. The Court of Appeals rejected Millennium’s argument that the Hearings Examiner and the Board were required to ignore the impacts of the project at full buildout, finding it contrary to the prohibition on piecemeal review in SEPA and the SMA. *Millennium Bulk Terminals-Longview v. Dep’t of Ecology*, No. 52215-2-II (Wash. Mar. 17, 2020) (slip op.) at 13–16.⁴ The Court found that Stage 1 and Stage 2 were interrelated and interdependent, and that completion of Stage 1 would have a coercive effect on the approval of Stage 2. Slip op. at 16–17. The Court stated that to accept Millennium’s argument that the project should be piecemealed “would effectively allow Millennium to nullify SEPA substantive authority” and “would dilute the SMA review process and public scrutiny of Millennium’s Stage 1 permit application, in contravention of the purposes that the SMA was intended to achieve.” Slip op. at 16.

⁴ The Court of Appeals March 17, 2020 Unpublished Opinion is attached to Millennium’s Petition for Review as Appendix A.

IV. AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT

A. **The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied Settled Law in Concluding That Summary Judgment Was Proper Where the Parties Do Not Dispute Material Facts, and Only Dispute the Legal Conclusions That Can Be Drawn From Millennium’s Allegations Regarding Stage 1 Impacts**

Millennium’s argument that the Court of Appeals misapplied the summary judgment standard relies on the assumption that the project can be lawfully piecemealed. It cannot, for reasons explained in Section B below. Millennium’s assertion that the impacts of Stage 1 could be mitigated is immaterial where SEPA and the SMA require consideration of the full scope of the project’s impacts.

Millennium tries to reframe a legal disagreement regarding the relevance of its Stage 1 allegations as an issue of fact, misstating the Court of Appeals decision in the process. Petition for Review at 9–10. In fact, the Court of Appeals recognized that “the parties simply dispute what conclusions can be drawn from such undisputed evidence.” Slip op. at 15. When “a determination is made by a process of legal reasoning from, or interpretation of the legal significance of, the evidentiary facts,” courts label it a conclusion of law. *Goodeill v. Madison Real Estate*, 191 Wn. App. 88, 99, 362 P.3d 302 (2015) (citation omitted).

Millennium, not the Court of Appeals, misapplies the summary judgment standard. The Board may hear and rule on summary judgment

motions prior to a scheduled adjudicatory hearing, and here, Ecology, WEC, and Millennium all moved for summary judgment. In such summary judgment proceedings, parties may submit evidence. Slip op. at 21. While Millennium asserts that it would have presented additional evidence at the scheduled hearing, its litigation strategy decisions cannot undermine the use of summary judgment by the Board.

The Court of Appeals did not err in applying the summary judgment standard, where the parties simply dispute the legal conclusions that can be drawn from Millennium's allegations regarding Stage 1. As the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, the Board did not err in concluding that no genuine issues of material fact exist where Millennium's Stage 1 argument is predicated on Millennium's erroneous assertion that the project can be piecemealed. Slip op. at 14. Any dispute about what the impacts of Stage 1 are, or what mitigation is necessary for Stage 1, is immaterial because the project's impacts at full buildout—both Stages 1 and 2—must be, and properly were, considered by the Board. And because the EIS was not challenged, there are no material issues of fact regarding the project's impacts at full buildout, including the EIS findings that the project will cause numerous, significant and unavoidable adverse environmental impacts.

B. The Court of Appeals Decision Upholding the Board's Consideration of the Project at Full Buildout Is Consistent with Statute and Precedent and Provides No Basis for This Court's Review

This case presents a textbook example of a project proponent attempting to piecemeal its project in an effort to prevent review of the project's full environmental impacts. Such piecemealing—i.e., artificial division of a complete project into smaller segments—is prohibited under SEPA and the SMA. The Hearings Examiner, the Board, and the Court of Appeals all properly rejected Millennium's piecemealing arguments. The Court of Appeals' application of well-settled principles and precedent disfavoring piecemealing presents no conflict, and no other reason meriting this Court's review. *See* RAP 13.4.

The purpose of SEPA is not to generate information for its own sake but “to enable the decision-maker to ascertain whether they require either mitigation or denial of the proposal.” *Victoria Tower P'ship v. City of Seattle*, 59 Wn. App. 592, 601, 800 P.2d 380 (1990). Millennium's argument that the project must be reviewed in phases under the SMA is contrary to SEPA's mandate that an agency “be cognizant of and responsive to possible environmental consequences in their actions” and defeats the whole point of SEPA review. *Merkel v. Port of Brownsville*, 8 Wn. App. 844, 847, 509 P.2d 390 (1973). The disclosure of the full

impacts of a project in an EIS would be meaningless if a permitting authority could not consider those impacts either during permit review or in exercising its substantive SEPA authority. “[T]he piecemeal consideration of environmental impacts from broader development plans, is one which strikes at the very core of both the State Environmental Policy Act and the Shorelines Management Act.” *Appletree Cove Prot. Fund v. Kitsap Cty.*, No. 93-055, 1994 WL 905514, at *2 (Wash. Shorelines Hearings Bd. Oct. 6, 1994).

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